RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

04-20-2017

COURT OF APPEAL CERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

District II

Case No. 2017AP000208 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

JOHNNY PINDER,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
ENTERED ON DECEMBER 1, 2015, AND THE DECISION AND ORDER DENYING
MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED ON
JANUARY 30, 2017, THE HONORABLE PAUL MALLOY
PRESIDING ON BOTH MATTERS, BOTH ENTERED IN
THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR OZAUKEE COUNTY.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE APPELLANT

MARK S. ROSEN
ROSEN AND HOLZMAN
400 W. MORELAND BLVD., SUITE C
WAUKESHA, WI 53188

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Whether the search of Defendant's vehicle pursuant to a G.P.S. tracking search Order was illegal. This, when the installation of the G.P.S. monitoring system did not occur until well after the five day statutory limit for the execution of a search warrant. Here, the trial court had issued the Order that had acted as a warrant on February 27, 2015. However, the actual installation of the monitoring system did not occur until March 9, 2015. Hence, the execution of the Order had occurred more than five days after the issuance of the warrant, which violates the statutory requirement, and voids the warrant. Hence, the installation and use of the monitoring system was an illegal warrantless search.

Trial Court Answered: No.

II. Whether or not the trial court had erred in denying Defendant's Postconviction Motion alleging prejudicial ineffectiveness of counsel? This, when trial counsel had not objected to misleading and confusing jury instructions concerning an element of the offense, Burglary of a Building or Dwelling, that had been charged in this case.

Here, after testimony had been completed, the trial court had indicated that it would amend the Burglary of a Building jury instruction to reflect "office" instead of "building." This was after Defendant had objected to the word "building" because the building relevant to this matter had been unlocked at the time of the alleged entry. Therefore, there was a legal issue as to whether or not a Burglary to a building had even occurred. However, the

eventual Burglary jury instruction contained references to both "building" and "office." The first reference was to a "building". However, later references in that instruction were of an "office." Unfortunately, illegal entry into an "office" does not necessarily constitute a Burglary. Entry into an "office" is not one of the statutory options that constitute a Burglary. Also, the dictionary definition of an "office" does not meet the statutory requirement of a Burglary. Furthermore, the dual references in the jury instruction to both "building" and "office", when the "office" entry was not legally appropriate for a Burglary, and the entry into the "building" did not meet the legal standard for a Burglary, were misleading and erroneous. Trial counsel did not object to this instruction. He found this instruction acceptable. The erroneous jury instruction was not harmless error. Trial counsel was prejudicially ineffective.

Trial Court Answered: No.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Appeal involves issues of law which are not settled. Arguments need to be presented in more detail in oral argument. Therefore, oral argument and publication are requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Johnny Pinder, along with codefendant Darnelle Polk, was charged in a four Count Criminal Complaint dated March 16, 2015. Only Counts One and Two apply to Defendant Pinder. Count One charged Defendant with Burglary of a Building or Dwelling, as a Party to a Crime, contrary to Wis. Stats. 943.10(1m)(a), 939.50(3)(f), and 939.05. The Count charged Defendant with illegal entry into a building. Count Two charged Defendant with Possession of Burglarious Tools, contrary to Wis. Stats. 943.12, 939.50(3)(I). The charges allege that Defendant, along with Polk, entered into a business building located in Mequon. Polk was the driver of a vehicle. According to the Complaint, Defendant entered the building, entered into an office in the building, and took a computer. Upon stopping the vehicle in question, police found the property as well as alleged burglarious tools. (1:1-4).

A preliminary hearing occurred on March 23, 2015. After taking testimony, the trial court found probable cause and bound Defendant over for trial. (57:26). The State filed a Criminal Information against the Defendant charging the same two charges, with the same charging language, against him as indicated in the Criminal Complaint. (4:1-1).

Arraignment had occurred on April 28, 2015. (58:1-4).

Defendant later filed a Motion to Suppress. (9:1-5; 10:1-5).

An evidentiary hearing on this Motion had occurred on November 9, 2015. After that hearing, the State filed its Brief opposing Defendant's Motion. (22:1-2). Defendant filed his own Brief a day later. (23:1-2). On November 23, 2015, the trial court had orally denied the Motion. (63:7).

Eventually, a jury trial commenced on November 30, 2015. Matthew Weil was Defendant's trial attorney. This was a joint trial along with codefendant Darnelle Polk. Defendant was on trial for both charges in the Criminal Information.

The jury returned verdicts of guilty against the Defendant. This, with respect to both Counts in the Criminal Information. (65: 248).

On December 1, 2015, the trial court sentenced Defendant on Count One to ten years prison, to consist of five years initial confinement plus five years extended supervision; on Count Two to two years prison, to consist of one year initial confinement plus one year extended supervision, concurrent to Count One. Both sentences were consecutive to any time that the Defendant was presently serving. (66:20; 37:1-2).

Subsequently, Defendant filed his Motion for Postconviction Relief with attachments. He filed this Motion on August 24, 2016. By this Motion, he sought a new trial based upon prejudicial ineffectiveness of counsel. (43:1-36). The trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing on this Motion on November 7, 2016. (68:1-25).

At a later hearing, the trial court had orally denied Defendant's Postconviction Motion. This occurred on January 19, 2017. 69:10). Thereafter, the trial court issued a written Order denying the Postconviction Motion. (50:1).

Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal in a timely manner. (51:1-4).

This Appeal has been filed within the schedule set by the Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Johnny Pinder, along with codefendant Darnelle Polk, was charged in a four Count Criminal Complaint dated March 16, 2015. Only Counts One and Two apply to Defendant Pinder. Count One charged Defendant with Burglary of a Building or Dwelling, as a Party to a Crime, contrary to Wis. Stats. 943.10(lm)(a), 939.50(3)(f), and 939.05. The Count charged Defendant with illegal entry into a building. Count Two charged Defendant with Possession of Burglarious Tools, contrary to Wis. Stats. 943.12, 939.50(3)(I). The charges allege that Defendant, along with Polk, entered into a business building located in Mequon. Polk was the driver of a vehicle. According to the Complaint, Defendant entered the building, entered into an office in the building, and took a computer. Upon stopping the vehicle in question, police found the

property as well as alleged burglarious tools. (1:1-4).

A preliminary hearing had occurred on March 23, 2015. After taking testimony, the trial court found probable cause and bound Defendant over for trial. (57:26). The State filed a Criminal Information against the Defendant charging the same two charges, with the same charging language, against him as indicated in the Criminal Complaint. The relevant charging language in the Information as to Count One was that the Defendant did intentionally enter a building with the intent to steal and without lawful consent. (4:1-1).

Arraignment occurred on April 28, 2015. At that time, Defendant entered his pleas of Not Guilty to Both Counts in the Criminal Information. (58:1-4).

Eventually, Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress. In this Motion, Defendant had indicated that on February 27, 2015, the Ozaukee County trial court had issued an Order Authorizing the Placing and Monitoring of an Electronic Tracking Device (henceforth either "the Order" or "Order") on Defendant's vehicle. This was a G.P.S. tracking device. This, pursuant to an Affidavit and Request for Authorization to Place an Electronic Tracking Device submitted that same day to the trial court. However, the actual installation of that tracking device did not occur until March 9, 2015. On March 14, 2015, the device produced a live feed, which allowed the detective to view the movements of the vehicle in real time. The

detective notified the Mequon Police Department of the location of the GPS device and, after some time, that Police Department had initiated a traffic stop on Defendant's vehicle. (9:3; 10:3).

Defendant had argued in his Motion to Suppress that the placing of the G.P.S. tracking device on his vehicle had constituted a search. Defendant cited the U.S. Supreme Court case of U.S. vs. Jones, 132 S.Ct. 945 (2012) for this legal conclusion. Accordingly, Defendant had argued that either: (1) the Order was not a lawful search warrant, thereby making the installation of the tracking device a warrantless search; or (2) if the Order was a search warrant, law enforcement had not attached it within the statutory five day guideline. The Motion cited Wis. 968.15(1) for the legal requirement that a search warrant must be executed and returned not more than five days after the date of issuance. Otherwise, according to the statute, the warrant becomes null and void if not executed within five days of the date of issuance. Therefore, according to the Defendant, in either case, the search was illegal, thereby requiring suppression of the fruits of that search. (9:1-5; 10:1-5).

An evidentiary hearing on Defendant's Motion to Suppress had occurred on November 9, 2015. At that time, the parties had agreed that most of the facts could be stipulated by the parties. The State had agreed that the G.P.S device had not been installed until ten days after the trial court had issued the Order. The parties

had also agreed that the Order had been signed on February 27, but that the device had not been installed until March 9. At the time, Defendant had indicated that it had a copy of the law enforcement Affidavit and Request for Authorization and Order. (62:2-3). Defendant had argued that the basis for the Motion was the Supreme Court case of U.S. vs. Jones. Defendant had first indicated that the "Order" was not a warrant as required by Jones. Defendant had indicated that this case had dictated that the GPS tracking device attached to Defendant's vehicle was a search, requiring a search warrant. Hence, the search was a warrantless, illegal search. In the alternative, Defendant had argued, as in his written Motion, that even if the court was to find the "Order" to be a warrant, then it had not been executed within five days as required by the Wisconsin Statutes. Defendant had argued that the only way for the police to know of Defendant's location was through the GPS monitor. Based upon these arguments, Defendant had moved for suppression of all evidence found on the basis of this G.P.S. monitoring. (62:4-7).

Here, both the Affidavit and Request for Authorization to Place and Monitor an Electronic Tracking Device as well as the actual signed court Order authorizing the placement of this device had been introduced into evidence on November 9, 2015. (19:1-11; 20:1-2). Here, the Affidavit itself seeks authorization of the placement of Global Positioning System (GPS) tracking device onto

the Defendant's vehicle. The legal basis for this request was <u>United States vs. Karo</u>, 468 U.S. at 718. Furthermore, the Affidavit sought permission to enter into Defendant's residence located at 2825 N. 30th Street in Milwaukee. This, in order to install the device onto the Defendant's vehicle. (19:7-11).

The court's Order authorizing the placement of the GPS device onto Defendant's vehicle authorized use of the device for sixty days. The Order mandated removal of the device not later than sixty days from the date of the signing of the Order. Furthermore, the Order authorized entry and reentry into the vehicle and structures containing the vehicle. The Order is dated February 27, 2015. (20:1-2).

After the November 9, 2015 hearing, the State had filed its Brief opposing Defendant's Motion. (22:1-2). Defendant had filed his own Brief a day later. (23:1-2).

On November 23, 2015, the trial court had orally denied the Motion. The trial court relied upon <u>State vs. Sveum</u>, 328 Wis.2d 369, for the conclusion that the failure to timely execute the court's Order did not warrant suppression. (63:2-7; A 106-111).

Eventually, a jury trial commenced on November 30, 2015. Matthew Weil was Defendant's trial attorney. This was a joint trial along with codefendant Darnelle Polk. Defendant was on trial for both charges in the Criminal Information.

William Mikkelson testified for the State. He testified that

he was the property manager and part owner of the office complex at issue in this matter. (65:90-91). He testified that the main entry doors to the building are unlocked, which is the public access hallway. (65:101).

At the close of evidence, both Polk and Defendant requested directed verdicts. Both Defendants had indicated that the evidence had shown that the building was unlocked at the time of the alleged entry. Defendant argued that entry into a place when it is open to the public is not without consent. Defendant cited Champlin vs. State, 84 Wis.2d 621, 267 N.W.2d 295 (1978) for the holding that "...Entry into a place when it is open to the public is not without consent. Thus, entry into a hotel lobby open to the public although done with the intent to steal is not burglary." Defendant indicated that the testimony of the property manager was that the building was open at the time that this incident allegedly took place. The State moved to amend the pleadings to say room within a building. After hearing argument, the trial court orally amended the jury instruction to that of an "office." (65:187-190).

The trial court subsequently conducted a jury instructions conference with the parties. This conference went as follows:

THE COURT: "I went through and, gentlemen, so the record is clear, I took out the words "building or dwelling" and put "office" in. I think that it's fair to say that all the testimony showed that this is kind of an office - it's not an office sharing building. It's where people have individual suites within the building.

There's really nothing unusual. It's a little more modern version of what you used to see, so you might have free standing law offices there, things of that nature. And that's where the break-in occurred. Mr. Last, anything?

MR. LAST: "No, Your Honor."

THE COURT: "They look acceptable to you and Mr. Polk?"

MR. LAST: "Yes."

THE COURT: "And Mr. Weil?"

MR. WEIL: "Judge, I have reviewed them with Mr. Pinder. They are acceptable..." (65:192-193).

Mr. Last was the attorney for codefendant Darnelle Polk.

Mr. Last gave his Closing Argument on behalf of Mr. Polk. The basis for his argument was that his client had been accused of something that he did not do and did not participate in. The surveillance video had indicated that, at the scene, the driver had remained in the vehicle while the passenger had exited the vehicle. The police had testified at trial that the vehicle had belonged to Mr. Pinder, and that Polk had exited the vehicle upon the traffic stop. The police had searched Polk and found nothing of evidentiary value on him. (65:201-202). The police found the incriminating items n the vehicle. Mr. Last had indicated during his argument that Polk did not own the vehicle, and that his only connection with the vehicle was that on March 14 he was driving the vehicle. All items found in the vehicle belonged to Defendant Pinder. Furthermore, the jury had learned that Polk had provided an

explanation for his presence in Ozaukee County, and that presence was because he was looking for Seek Employment. This employment agency was, in fact, located on the same road as the burglary. Therefore, Polk was in Ozaukee County for a legitimate reason. (65:203-204). Mr. Last had argued that the reason that there had been multiple stops of the vehicle by Defendant and Polk was because someone unfamiliar with the area might stop at different locations. This, in order to find a specific location. There was no proof that Polk had even acted as a party to a crime, that he even had knowledge that a crime was going to be committed, or that he had any desire to assist or be ready to assist in the commission of the burglary that had eventually occurred. (65:205-206).

The trial court subsequently read the Burglary jury instruction pertaining to the Defendant to the jury. This went as follows:

"Burglary, as defined in Section 941.10 of the Criminal Code of Wisconsin is committed by somebody who intentionally enters a building without the consent of the person in lawful possession and with intent to steal.

Before you may find the Defendant, Johnny Pinder, guilty of this offense, the State must prove by evidence which satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt that the following four elements were present:

One, the defendant, Johnny Pinder, intentionally entered an office; the defendant Johnny Pinder entered an office without the consent of the person in lawful possession; the defendant, Johnny Pinder, knew that the entry was without consent; and the defendant, Johnny Pinder, entered the office with the intent to steal.

The phrase "intent to steal" requires the defendant had the mental purpose to take and carry away movable property of another without consent and that the defendant intended to deprive the owner permanently of possession of the property. It requires that the defendant knew the property belonged to another and knew the person did not consent to the taking of the property.

The intent to steal must be formed before entry is made. The intent to steal, which is an essential element of burglary, is not more or less than the mental purpose to steal formed at any time before the entry which continued to exist at the time of entry. You cannot look into a person's mind to find intent and knowledge. Intent and knowledge must be found, if found at all, from the defendant's acts, words and statements, if any, and from all of the facts and circumstances in this case bearing upon intent and knowledge.

If you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that all four elements of this offense have been proved, you must find the defendant guilty. If you are not so satisfied, you must find the defendant not guilty." (65: 217-218.

The written instructions pertaining to this Count were identical to the actual language provided by the trial court to the jury orally. (34:1-18; 43:Exhibit 3).

The jury returned verdicts of guilty against the Defendant. This, with respect to both Counts in the Criminal Information. (65: 248).

On December 1, 2015, the trial court sentenced Defendant on Count One to ten years prison, to consist of five years initial confinement plus five years extended supervision; on Count Two to two years prison, to consist of one year initial confinement plus one year extended supervision, concurrent to Count One. Both

sentences were consecutive to any time that the Defendant was presently serving. (66:20; 37:1-2).

Subsequently, Defendant filed his Motion for Postconviction Relief with attachments. He filed this Motion on August 24, 2016. By this Motion, he sought a new trial based upon prejudicial ineffectiveness of counsel. Defendant had argued that trial counsel had been prejudicially ineffective. This, for failing to object to the materially erroneous and confusing jury instructions concerning the dual references to both "building" and "office." (43:1-36).

The trial court had conducted an evidentiary hearing on Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief. This hearing occurred on November 7, 2016. At that hearing, trial counsel Matthew Weil had testified. Trial counsel had testified that he had agreed that the relevant jury instruction had contained two words for the Burglary, one of which was "office" and one of which was "building." He also agreed that he had never objected to the jury instruction on the basis that the use of the two different words could possibly create juror confusion. He further testified thathe had never objected to the use of the word "building," even though this situation was not legally a burglary into a building because of Champlin vs. State. He agreed that he did not object to the word "building" being there, even though the word "office" was in the elements, on the possible basis that there might be jury confusion, having two different words. Furthermore, he agreed that he did not

object to the use of the word "building", even though <u>Champlin vs.</u>

<u>State</u> created a legal issue as to whether or not this was legally a burglary to a building because the building was not locked.

(68:14-15).

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