## **RECEIVED**06-04-2018

# In the Supreme Court of Wishweldonsin

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

v.

JOHNNY K. PINDER, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

On Appeal From The Ozaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Paul V. Malloy, Presiding, Case No. 2015CF84

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General Counsel of Record

KEVIN M. LEROY Deputy Solicitor General

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 tseytlinm@doj.state.wi.us (608) 267-9323

Attorneys for the State of Wisconsin

####

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. There is no basis to suppress the evidence that the State obtained through the GPS tracker.

A. The GPS-tracker warrant was a lawful, common-law warrant, authorizing the State to install and monitor a GPS tracker on Pinder's car for up to 60 days. As a common-law warrant, it need only comply with the Fourth Amendment and, as this Court held in *Tate*, with the "spirit" of non-

applicable statutory provisions governing statutory warrants. Here, of course, the GPS warrant fully complied with all Fourth Amendment requirements, as Pinder concedes.

The GPS warrant also complied with the "spirit" of non-applicable statutory provisions for generic search warrants. The only dispute is over Section 968.15, which provides that "[a] search warrant must be executed and returned not more than 5 days after the date of issuance." Sveum applied this statute directly to a GPS-tracker warrant, but given Tate's subsequent clarification that such warrants need only comply with the "spirit" of non-applicable statutory provisions, the Court should require only compliance with the "spirit" of Section 968.15. Here, there is no basis to believe that the Legislature would have wanted to require that all GPS-tracker warrants be executed within five days, especially given that these warrants routinely take much longer to achieve their legitimate crime-detection purposes.

This suggested approach to resolving this case is, the State respectfully submits, preferable to the course that this Court charted in *Sveum* because it would make clear to officers and circuit courts that standard, 60-day GPS warrants, supported by probable cause, are *entirely lawful*.

B. Even if this Court holds that the GPS-tracker warrant here must comply with Section 968.15's five-day execution rule, suppression is unjustified because just as *Sveum* concluded under Section 968.22, the State's noncompliance with this statute did not "affect" Pinder's

"substantial rights." As in *Sveum*, the warrant here complied with all Fourth Amendment requirements and the State reasonably executed it.

C. Finally, suppression is also not appropriate because the so-called "good faith" exception applies. Detective Polishinski acted in reasonable reliance on the warrant, and the State complied with the additional requirements for the exception that this Court articulated in *State v. Eason*, 2001 WI 98, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625. That said, this Court should overrule *Eason*'s explicit departure from United States Supreme Court caselaw and hold that the so-called "good faith" exception requires only a showing of reasonable reliance by officers on a warrant.

II. Pinder's counsel did not render ineffective assistance by failing to object to the jury instructions. Pinder's attorney did not perform deficiently by declining to launch a futile objection to the instructions. And, in any event, the evidence of Pinder's guilt was overwhelming, meaning that he cannot establish prejudice from any failure to object.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. There Is No Basis For Suppressing The Evidence That Police Obtained From The GPS Tracker

The police executed the GPS-tracker warrant here using reasonable means and removed it from Pinder's car well within the 60-day period provided by the warrant. The State submits that the warrant was a lawful common-law warrant, which complied with the Fourth Amendment and is not

governed by the specifics of Section 968.15's five-day execution requirement. But even if this Court finds that the warrant was unlawful because Section 968.15's five-day execution requirement applies directly, the evidence that police obtained should not be suppressed both because any error did not impact Pinder's substantial rights and because police reasonably relied in good faith on the warrant's terms.

- A. Police Obtained The Evidence Lawfully Because This Case Involves A Common-Law Warrant Not Governed By Section 968.15's Five-Day Execution Requirement
  - 1. Wisconsin Circuit Courts Have Common-Law Authority To Issue Search Warrants Without Statutory Authorization

"The power to issue a search warrant is a common law power in America as well as England, and in the federal system as well as in the states." *United States v. Torres*, 751 F.2d 875, 879 (7th Cir. 1984) (citations omitted). "Given the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirements, and assuming no statutory prohibition, the courts must be deemed to have inherent power to issue a warrant when the requirements of that Amendment are met." *United States v. Villegas*, 899 F.2d 1324, 1334 (2d Cir. 1990); *accord United States v. Falls*, 34 F.3d 674, 678 (8th Cir. 1994). In 1865, this Court, in the course of holding that a court could deputize a private individual to execute a search warrant without statutory authorization, observed that "at common law[,] a justice of the

peace had a right to direct his warrant to any [] person," and "[t]his [common law] authority extended as well to search warrants as others." *Meek v. Pierce*, 19 Wis. 300, 302 (1865).

In Tate, this Court held that "[n]o specific statutory authority is necessary [for] the issuance of a valid [search] warrant" in this State, so long as the warrant complies with the requirements of the Fourth Amendment (or its state-law analogue, Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution), and the "spirit" of non-applicable statutory provisions. 2014 WI 89,  $\P\P$  31, 42, 50. *Tate* approved a circuit court's issuance of a search warrant for cell-site data, although no statute authorized such a warrant. *Id.* ¶¶ 42, 51. The Fourth Amendment "establish[es] the manner in which warrants shall issue," this Court explained, such that "statutory authorization [is] not necessary in order [for a court] to issue [a search] warrant." Id.  $\P\P$  27, 31, 42, 51. The Legislature may, of course, "express legislative choices about procedures to employ for warrants." Id. ¶ 2 & n.5. When the Legislature does not adopt such "express" language limiting a type of warrant, statutes generally governing other types of warrants are only relevant to the extent that the warrant at issue complies with the "spirit" (even if not the letter) of those statutory provisions. Id. ¶¶ 42–50. For example, in Tate, the Court held that the search warrant for cell-site data "did comply with the spirit of Wis. Stat. § 968.12 and Wis. Stat. § 968.135," although no "specific statut[e]" authorized the cell-site warrant at issue. Id.  $\P\P$  2, 51; but see id.  $\P$  154

(Abrahamson, J., dissenting) (criticizing the "failure of the warrant to comply with multiple requirements of Wis. Stat. § 968.135").

### 2. The GPS-Tracker Warrant Here Was A Valid Common-Law Warrant

The GPS-tracker warrant in the present case is a valid, common-law warrant because the circuit court issued that warrant consistently with the Fourth Amendment's strictures, and the warrant does not violate the "spirit" of any statutes governing other types of warrants.

a. To comply with the Fourth Amendment, a warrant must satisfy three conditions: first, it must be issued according to "prior authorization by a neutral, detached magistrate"; second, it must be supported by an "oath or affirmation that there is probable cause"; and third, it must contain "a particularized description of the place to be searched." *Sveum*, 2010 WI 92, ¶ 20; *Tate*, 2014 WI 89, ¶¶ 28–30. As the Court of Appeals pointed out, "Pinder does not assert that the search was unlawful because of a Fourth Amendment violation." A103.

As a threshold matter, the first and third requirements of a Fourth Amendment warrant were clearly satisfied in this case. The circuit court—which is a neutral, detached magistrate—issued the warrant. SA13. And the warrant particularly described the object of the search as Pinder's silver Impala. See SA12; accord Sveum, 2010 WI 92, ¶ 39.

The warrant was supported by an "oath or affirmation that there is probable cause" to monitor the movement of Pinder's car for 60 days. SA1; SA12; Brereton, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 35. The warrant issued upon Detective Polishinski's sworn affidavit, detailing the criminal investigation of Pinder. SA1– 11. And the warrant's 60-day expiration date was reasonable. As the circuit court explained, one cannot "predict when a burglary [is] going to occur," since there "may be a pattern where [the burglar] go[es] at a certain time or a certain day of the week because [he is] going in[to] offices." SA19. What is more, Pinder intended to commit more burglaries, given that he assured the informant's aunt that "he would get her another [stolen computer]" when here stopped working. SA6. In Sveum, this Court approved of an order authorizing the State to install a GPS tracker for 60 days to investigate stalking. 2010 WI 92,  $\P\P$  5–7, 57, 67 ("A search obtaining this type of evidence could not have been completed in a single day.").

Finally, the officers executed the warrant consistently with its terms, see Brereton, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 45, while probable cause still existed, State v. Edwards, 98 Wis. 2d 367, 372–73, 297 N.W.2d 12 (1980), and in an otherwise reasonable manner, see Sveum, 2010 WI 92, ¶ 53. The warrant authorized the "install[ation] and monitor[ing]" of a "tracking device" on Pinder's Impala, subject only to two restrictions: the device must be installed by "the Mequon Police Department" or "the Wisconsin Department of Justice," and

the officers "shall remove the electronic-tracking device as soon as practicable after the objectives of the surveillance are accomplished or not later than 60 days from the date the order is signed." SA12–13. Detective Polishinski installed the GPS tracker on Pinder's car ten days after the court issued the warrant, and all monitoring occurred over the next six days. Supra p. 6. Probable cause existed at the time the State executed the warrant: as of the date that Detective Polishinski installed the tracker on Pinder's car, the burglaries remained unsolved, Pinder possessed a significant stockpile of stolen goods, and he intended to sell these goods and to commit more burglaries. Supra pp. 3–4. And the execution was reasonable in all other respects. See supra p. 6.

b. As noted above, in Tate, this Court examined certain non-applicable statutes to ascertain whether the warrant at issue complied with the "spirit" of those provisions. Tate, 2014 WI 89, ¶¶ 42–50. Here, no specific statutory provisions govern the warrant, and the warrant complied with the "spirit" of all non-applicable provisions.

The Wisconsin Statutes include provisions dealing with a generic statutory "search warrant," defined as "an order signed by a judge directing a law enforcement officer to conduct a search of a designated person, a designated object or a designated place for the purpose of seizing designated property or kinds of property." Wis. Stat. § 968.12(1) (emphasis added); see also id. § 968.10(3) (authorizing searches pursuant to warrants). Section 968.13 delineates

the categories of property that may be seized: "[c]ontraband," "fruit[s]" of crime, non-document "evidence," and "documents ... under the control of [the named] person." 968.12(1) also provides that a "judge shall issue a search warrant if probable cause is shown." Section 968.14 authorizes police to use "[a]ll necessary force . . . to execute a search warrant or to effect any entry into any building or property." Section 968.16 authorizes the "reasonabl[e] detain[er] and search of any person" present at a searched location for police protection or the prevention of destruction of items described in the warrant. Section 968.18 through Section 968.20 prescribe procedures for the receipt, custody, and return of property police seize during a warrant's execution. Further, most directly in dispute here, Section 968.15 provides that "[a] search warrant must be executed and returned not more than 5 days after the date of issuance," and "[a]ny search warrant not executed within the time provided in sub. (1) shall be void and shall be returned to the judge issuing it." And Section 968.17 requires "[t]he return of the search warrant" "to the clerk designated in the warrant" "within 48 hours after execution."

Chapter 968 also contains multiple specific warrant provisions authorizing different types of search warrants. For example, Wis. Stat. § 968.373(4) authorizes 60-day warrants to "track the location of a communications device."

The provisions for a generic search warrant do not apply to GPS-tracker warrants. The provisions for generic

search warrants apply *only* to "an order signed by a judge directing a law enforcement officer to conduct a search of a designated person, a designated object or a designated place for the purpose of seizing designated property or kinds of property." Wis. Stat. § 968.12(1) (emphasis added). A GPStracker warrant permits the attachment of a "tracking device to an individual's vehicle, and subsequent use of that device ... monitor[s] the vehicle's movements on public streets." *United States v. Jones*, 565 U.S. 400, 402 (2012). While this involves a physical trespass on the vehicle owner's property, id. at 410, and/or violates "a subjective expectation of privacy that society recognizes as reasonable," id. at 414 (Sotomayor, J., concurring) (citation omitted); see Brereton, 2013 WI 17, ¶ 34, the tracker does not involve "a search of a designated person, a designated object or a designated place for the purpose of seizing designated property or kinds of property," Wis. Stat. § 968.12(1), such as the kinds of "property" enumerated in Wis. Stat. § 968.13.

Here, the warrant complied with the "spirit" of the rules governing generic warrants under Wis. Stat. § 968.12. The warrant satisfies the three requirements of Section 968.12(1). It is "an order signed by a judge directing a law enforcement officer to conduct a search." *Tate*, 2014 WI 89, ¶ 43 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 968.12(1)). It "designate[s]" a particular person and object to search, Pinder's Chevy Impala. *Id.* (quoting Wis. Stat. § 968.12(1)). And "probable cause is shown" by the extensive affidavit of the Detective describing, among other

things, Pinder's burglary spree through Mequon with the Impala. *Id.* (quoting Wis. Stat. § 968.12(1)). Further, the Detective used no "[un]necessary force," Wis. Stat. § 968.14, did not detain any person, Wis. Stat. § 968.16, and did not seize any property in the course of executing the warrant, Wis. Stat. §§ 968.18–20. Finally, as discussed in more detail below, given the specific nature of GPS-tracker warrants, the warrant here complied with the "spirit" of Section 968.15's five-day execution requirement (and Section 968.17(1)'s return requirement) because it included a 60-day expiration deadline. Indeed, in terms of timing, the warrant's compliance with Wis. Stat. § 968.373(4)'s authorization of 60-day warrants to "track the location of a communications device" is far more analogous.

# 3. The GPS-Tracker Warrant Here Complied With The "Spirit" Of The Five-Day Execution Requirement

In the pre-Tate decision in Sveum, this Court adjudicated the legality of a GPS-tracker warrant by reference to the specific statutory rules governing generic statutory search warrants and did not consider the view adopted later in Tate that non-statutory, common-law warrants need only comply with the "spirit" of the statutory rules rather than their specific letter. Sveum, 2010 WI 92, ¶ 55; see also id. ¶ 154 (Abrahamson, J., dissenting) ("No claim is made in the majority opinion or by the parties that the circuit courts have inherent power to issue search

warrants."). As explained in Part I.B of this brief, if this Court holds that *Sveum* means that Section 968.15's five-day execution requirement applies directly to GPS-tracker warrants, then this Court should reach the same result as in *Sveum*, holding that suppression is not an appropriate remedy here. *See infra* pp. 27–34.

The State submits that there is a better way to resolve this case, more consistent with *Tate* and the fact that Section 968.15 does not actually apply to GPS-tracker warrants as a matter of statutory text. *See supra* pp. 20–21. In particular, this Court should hold that a GPS-tracker warrant that expires within 60 days of issuance fully *complies* with the "spirit" of Section 968.15's five-day provision governing the timing of the execution of different kinds of warrants because the execution of a GPS warrant within five days is, as a general matter, unreasonable and something the Legislature could not have intended. This approach is preferable to the one this Court adopted in *Sveum* including because it would make clear to police officers and circuit courts that 60-day expiration GPS-tracker warrants are *entirely legal*, so long as they are supported by probable cause throughout that period.<sup>4</sup>

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